
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN 
DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  
HILDA L. SOLIS, Secretary of Labor,  :  
United States Department of Labor,   :      

:  
Plaintiff, : 

: CIVIL ACTION 
v.    :  

: 
STEVEN D. WESTRA, individually and as  :     
Trustee to the WESTRA CONSTRUCTION,  : 
INC. EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP  : 
PLAN, and the WESTRA CONSTRUCTION,  : 
INC. EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP  : 
PLAN,       : 
       : 

Defendants. : 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

 
COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff HILDA L. SOLIS, Secretary of Labor, United States Department of 

Labor (the Secretary), alleges: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This action arises under Title I of the Employee Retirement Income 

Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended, 29 U.S.C.  §1001, et seq., and is brought by 

the Secretary under ERISA  §502(a)(2) and (5), 29 U.S.C.  §1132(a)(2) and (5), to enjoin 

acts and practices which violate the provisions of Title I of ERISA, to recover losses 

resulting from breaches of fiduciary duty under ERISA 409, 29 U.S.C. §1109, and to 

obtain such further equitable relief as may be appropriate to redress violations and to 

enforce the provisions of Title I of ERISA. 

2. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to ERISA §502(e)(1), 

29 U.S.C.  §1132(e)(1).  
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3. The Westra Construction, Inc. Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the 

ESOP) was a defined contribution employee pension benefit plan within the meaning of 

ERISA §3(2)(A) and (34), 29 U.S.C. §1002(2)(A) and (34), which is subject to the 

provisions of Title I of ERISA pursuant to ERISA  4(a), 29 U.S.C. §1003(a).  

4. Venue of this action lies in the Eastern District of Wisconsin pursuant to 

ERISA §502(e)(2), 29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(2), because the ESOP was administered in 

Waupun, Dodge County, within this district.  

DEFENDANTS AND OTHER PARTIES 
 

5. At all relevant times, Westra Construction, Inc. (WCI), was the sponsor 

and plan administrator of the ESOP, was a “named fiduciary” to the ESOP within the 

meaning of ERISA §402(a)(2), 29 U.S.C. §1002(21)(A), was a fiduciary to the ESOP 

within the meaning of ERISA §3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1002(21)(A), and a party in interest 

to the ESOP within the meaning of ERISA §3(14)(A) and (C), 29 U.S.C. §1002(14)(A) 

and (C).    

6. At all relevant times, Steven D. Westra (S. Westra) was the Chairman of 

the Board of Westra Construction, Inc. (WCI),  a trustee of the ESOP, a fiduciary of the 

ESOP within the meaning of ERISA §3(21)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1002(21)(A), and a party in 

interest to the ESOP within the meaning of ERISA §3(14)(A) and (H), 29 U.S.C. 

§1002(14)(A) and (H).    

7. The ESOP is named as a defendant herein pursuant to Rule 19(a) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure solely to assure that complete relief can be granted. 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

WCI’s Need for Surety Bonding 

8. WCI was a nationwide general contractor performing commercial, 

industrial, institutional and retail construction work. WCI worked on both private and 

public building projects.   

9. All of WCI’s public, and many of its private customers, required surety 

bonding, including a performance bond that guaranteed project completion, a payment 

bond that guaranteed payment of subcontractors and suppliers and a bid bond that 

guaranteed the contractor would enter into the final contract and provide a final bond.  

10. During the period from January 2001 through November 30, 2003, WCI's 

surety bonding was provided by CNA Surety Company (CNA).     

CNA’s Cancellation of WCI’s Surety Bond 

11. On April 10, 2003, CNA requested that WCI and its shareholders take 

various steps to shore up WCI’s financial condition to ensure continued surety bonding 

coverage.  These steps included: (1) requiring WCI’s five key shareholders to provide 

CNA with personal indemnification agreements; (2) increasing WCI’s liquidity by $1.5 

million through the execution of promissory notes by its five key shareholders; (3) 

liquidating WCI’s other investments and receivables; (4) suspending WCI’s executive 

cessation plan for S. Westra for 2003 or until WCI’s financial situation stabilized; and (5) 

having WCI make a final determination regarding formation of an employee stock 

ownership plan.  
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12. In August 2003, CNA advised WCI, both orally and in writing, that, due 

to continued underwriting concerns, CNA would no longer serve as WCI’s surety and 

that WCI must find a new surety provider before October 15, 2003.  

13. On October 6, 2003, CNA advised WCI in writing that it would extend 

surety coverage to WCI to November 30, 2003, but only provided the ESOP purchased, 

with funds transferred to it from the Westra Construction Inc. Retirement Plan 

(Retirement Plan), $4 million worth of WCI’s stock shares.  

14. On November 30, 2003, CNA cancelled WCI’s surety bond program. 

Establishment of the ESOP and its Purchase of WCI Stock 

15. On September 26, 2003, WCI’s board of directors adopted the ESOP with 

an effective date of October 1, 2003. 

16. The ESOP’s governing documents provided that the ESOP’s initial 

purchase of WCI stock should be effected, in part, by the ESOP fiduciaries’ reliance on a 

fairness opinion prepared by an independent party and a valuation prepared by an 

independent valuator.  

17. Fiduciary Services Inc. (FSI) was selected by WCI to prepare a fairness 

determination for the ESOP purchase and to negotiate the terms of WCI’s offer to sell its 

stock to the ESOP.   FSI retained Advanced Valuation Analytics (AVA) to prepare a 

valuation report and a fairness opinion letter. 

18. On September 18, 2003, prior to the adoption of the ESOP and the 

completion of any fairness determination, valuation report or fairness opinion letter, 

WCI’s board of directors approved the liquidation of investments held in the Retirement 
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Plan which were attributable to WCI’s contributions, for transfer to the ESOP to finance 

its purchase of WCI’s stock shares.   

19. S. Westra knew no later than August 29, 2003 that CNA was set to 

terminate WCI’s surety bond.   

20. S. Westra knew that cancellation of the surety bond would have a 

significant adverse impact on WCI’s financial condition and the underlying value of 

WCI.   

21. Despite S. Westra's knowledge of the impending cancellation of WCI’s 

surety bond relationship with CNA, S. Westra failed to advise AVA or FSI of the 

problems that existed with WCI’s surety and its surety bond and the impending loss of 

surety coverage prior to completion of any draft or final reports issued by these entities. 

 22. On October 9, 2003, S. Westra and the ESOP’s other trustees directed the 

ESOP to purchase, primarily with WCI’s liquidated Retirement Plan contributions, 

40,000 shares of non-voting convertible preferred WCI stock for $4 million (at $100 per 

share).   

23. Accordingly, S. Westra and the ESOP’s other trustees caused the ESOP to 

enter into the ESOP transaction after the receipt of a draft valuation report and a final 

fairness opinion from AVA, and a draft fairness determination from FSI when S. Westra 

knew or should have known that these reports were based on incomplete and inaccurate 

information about WCI’s financial condition and surety bond program.  

24. On July 9, 2005, WCI ceased operations and the 40,000 shares of WCI 

preferred stock purchased by the ESOP twenty-one months before for $4 million became 

worthless. 
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VIOLATIONS 

(ESOP Purchase of WCI’S Preferred Stock)  
 

25. The general allegations of paragraphs 1 through 24 are hereby 

incorporated by reference herein.  

 26.  By causing the ESOP to purchase WCI’s preferred stock shares on the 

basis of valuation and fairness opinion reports he knew or should have known to be 

flawed and incomplete, as set forth in paragraphs 8 through 24 above, trustee S. Westra: 

  a. failed to act solely in the interest of the ESOP’s participants and 

beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to the ESOP’s 

participants and their beneficiaries and defraying reasonable expenses of ESOP 

administration in violation of ERISA §404(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(A);  

  b. failed to discharge his fiduciary duties solely in the interest of the 

ESOP’s participants and beneficiaries and with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence 

under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man acting in a like capacity and 

familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character 

and with like aims, in violation of ERISA §404(a)(1)(B), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(B).  

  c. failed to discharge his fiduciary duties with respect to the ESOP in 

accordance with the documents and instruments governing the ESOP in violation of 

ERISA §404(a)(1)(D), 29 U.S.C. §1104(a)(1)(D);  

  d. caused the ESOP to purchase WCI preferred stock, in violation of 

ERISA §406(a)(1)(A), 29 U.S.C. §1106(a)(1)(A); 
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  e. caused the ESOP to engage in transactions which he knew or 

should have known constituted a direct or indirect transfer to, or use by or for the benefit 

of, a party in interest, of assets of the ESOP, in violation of ERISA §406(a)(1)(D), 29 

U.S.C. §1106(a)(1)(D); and 

   f. acted in a transaction on behalf of the ESOP on behalf of a party 

whose interests were adverse to the interests of the ESOP and the interests of its 

participants and beneficiaries, in violation of ERISA §406(b)(2), 29 U.S.C. §1106(b)(2). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
  

WHEREFORE, the Secretary prays for judgment: 

 A. Permanently enjoining S. Westra from violating the provisions of Title I of 

ERISA; 

 B. Ordering S. Westra to make good to the ESOP any losses, including lost 

opportunity costs, resulting from fiduciary breaches committed by him or for which he is 

liable; 

 C. Ordering S. Westra to correct the prohibited transactions in which he 

engaged in;  

 D. Permanently enjoining S. Westra from serving as fiduciary or service 

provider to any ERISA-covered employee benefit plan; 

 E. Awarding the Secretary the costs of this action; and 
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F. Ordering such further relief as is appropriate and just. 

 

 

     M. PATRICIA SMITH 
     Solicitor of Labor  

 
 
      JOAN E. GESTRIN 
      Regional Solicitor 
 
 
      ________________________  
      CHRISTINE HERI    
      Senior Trial Attorney 
 

_________________________  
MARLA J. HALEY   
Trial Attorney 

 
 
Address: 
Office of the Solicitor    Attorneys for Hilda L. Solis, 
U.S. Department of Labor   Secretary of Labor, United 
230 South Dearborn Street   States Department of Labor,  
Eighth Floor     Plaintiff 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 
Telephone:  (312) 353-4455 
Fax: (312)353-5698 
E-mail:  haley.marla@dol.gov 


